RECEIVED 06-03-2020 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRCT II

Case No 2020AP000192-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRYSTUL D. KIZER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Non-Final Order Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable David Wilk Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

###

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Chrystul Kizer is a child sex trafficking victim, as defined by Wis. Stat. § 948.051. Her trafficker is the alleged victim in this case. Is the affirmative defense for human trafficking victims whose offenses are a direct result of their victimization, set forth in Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m), legally available in this case?

The circuit court answered: No. The affirmative defense is only available in prosecutions for trafficking offenses under Wis. Stat. § 940.302, whereas Ms. Kizer is charged with other crimes.

This Court should answer: Yes. The affirmative defense is legally available in any prosecution where the elements of the defense are met.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication may be warranted because there is no case law interpreting Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m).

#### **GOVERNING STATUTE**

939.46 Coercion. (1) A threat by a person other than the actor's coconspirator which causes the actor reasonably to believe that his or her act is the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm to the actor or another and

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 9 of 36

which causes him or her so to act is a defense to a prosecution for any crime based on that act, except that if the prosecution is for first-degree intentional homicide, the degree of the crime is reduced to 2nd-degree intentional homicide.

- (1m) A victim of a violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 has an affirmative defense for any offense committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 without regard to whether anyone was prosecuted or convicted for the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051.
- (2) It is no defense to a prosecution of a married person that the alleged crime was committed by command of the spouse nor is there any presumption of coercion when a crime is committed by a married person in the presence of the spouse.
- (3) A petitioner under s. 813.12 or 813.122, or an individual whose parent, stepparent, or legal guardian filed a petition under s. 813.122 on behalf of the individual as a child victim, as defined in s. 813.122 (1) (c), has an affirmative defense for an offense under s. 175.35 (2e) that is punishable under s. 175.35 (3) (b) 2., or for an offense under s. 941.2905, if the person prohibited from possessing a firearm was the respondent in the action under s. 813.12 or 813.122.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Thirty-four-year-old R.V. repeatedly sexually assaulted Chrystul Kizer in exchange for money and gifts beginning when she was 16 years old or

younger. (60:12-13). He filmed some of the sexual assaults. Ms. Kizer was not R.V.'s only child victim. He filmed himself sexually assaulting numerous other children. He also recorded himself offering to post ads to help his victims get business and gave advice on how to be a better prostitute by keeping body parts in working order. (68:14-15).

The Kenosha Police Department was alerted by TCF Bank, a financial institution utilized by R.V., that R.V.'s account had been flagged under suspicion of being involved in human or sex trafficking. (16:3). In February 2018, Kenosha Police executed a search warrant on R.V.'s home. (71:30). They seized evidence of child sexual assault and child pornography. (16:2-3; 68:4). R.V. was arrested but released. (71:30-31). Police took R.V.'s DNA but did not refer any charges. (16:3; 32:1). Months later, in June 2018, Ms. Kizer was arrested for allegedly shooting R.V., trying to cover up the scene with a fire, and taking R.V.'s car.<sup>1</sup> The State has conceded that Ms. Kizer was R.V.'s trafficking victim, but has alleged that the crimes were premediated and that Ms. Kizer's motive was to steal R.V.'s car. (68:12-13; 32:1-2)

The State charged: count one, first-degree intentional homicide, use of a dangerous weapon, Wis. Stat. §§ 940.01 and 939.63(1)(b); count two, operating a motor vehicle without owner's consent, Wis. Stat. § 943.23(2); count three, arson, Wis. Stat. § 943.02(1)(a), count four: felony bail jumping, Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(b), and count five: possession of a firearm by a felon, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(a). (1:1-2).

Ms. Kizer moved the circuit court to make a pretrial ruling that the affirmative defense set forth in Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m) is legally available in her case. (30). That statute provides: "A victim of a violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 [human/sex trafficking crimes] has an affirmative defense for any offense committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 without regard to whether anyone was prosecuted or convicted for the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051." The court accepted written arguments from the parties. (30, 31, 21, 33). It then issued an oral ruling and entered a written order in accord with its oral ruling. (70, 38).

The circuit court determined that the affirmative defense statute was ambiguous, finding that the affirmative defense could either be: (1) available in any prosecution, or (2) only available in prosecutions of human trafficking offenses under Wis. Stat. § 940.302(2). Having found the statute ambiguous, the court concluded that the second interpretation should prevail because the first interpretation would lead to absurd results. (70:2-6) (App. 104-08). Ms. Kizer petitioned this Court for leave to appeal from the circuit court's non-final order, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.50. This Court granted the request.

Although there is disagreement about whether the Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m) affirmative defense is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These statutes are reproduced in the appendix to this brief at 140, 141, and 142.

legally available in Ms. Kizer's case, the parties and circuit court agreed that if it is available, it operates according to the burden-shifting procedure applicable to other statutory affirmative defenses: if the defendant produces "some evidence" to support the defense, the State must disprove it beyond a reasonable doubt. (69:22-23; 70:5; App. 132-33, 107). See State v. Steinz, 2017 WI 58, 375 Wis. 2d 572, 895 N.W.2d 796; Moes v. State, 91 Wis. 2d 756,765-66, 284 N.W.2d 66 (1979).<sup>3</sup>

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this appeal, Ms. Kizer asks the Court to reverse the circuit court's incorrect legal interpretation of Wis. Stat. 939.46(1m). affirmative defense for human trafficking victims. She does not ask the Court to decide whether there is "some evidence" to support the affirmative defense such that it should be presented to the jury or whether she should prevail on the defense. Those questions are for the circuit court and jury to decide. See State v. Knight, 168 Wis. 2d 509, 518, 484 N.W.2d 540 ("the appellate court is not an initial fact finder").

As will be shown, the affirmative defense for human trafficking victims applies to "any offense" committed as a direct result of human and sex trafficking. It is not limited to prosecutions of trafficking crimes under Wis. Stat. § 940.302(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Section I.C.3. explains the burden-shifting procedure for applying the affirmative defense.

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 13 of 36

However, the defense is not limitless. The affirmative defense only applies to those offenses committed as a "direct result" of the trafficking victimization.

The legislature created the affirmative defense for human trafficking victims as part of a package of bills that either increased criminal liability for traffickers or added protection for trafficking victims. Subsection 939.46(1m) was enacted in 2007 WI Act 216, at the same time as Wis. Stat. §§ 940.302 and 948.051 (the statutes prohibiting trafficking). Act 216 also enacted statutes providing emergency assistance for trafficking victims, Wis. Stat. § 250.04(14)(a); limiting public hearings to protect victims of trafficking from "embarrassment and emotional trauma," Wis. Stat. § 970.03(4)(a); and providing restitution for psychological services for trafficking victims, Wis. Stat. § 973.20(4m). This context supports an inclusive reading of the affirmative defense to protect victims of trafficking. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶48, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

Contrary to the circuit court's ruling, the plain meaning of the statute does not lead to absurd results. Human trafficking is a complex evil. It can take the form of sex trafficking or labor trafficking and can be committed against both adults and children. Traffickers are skilled in manipulating and controlling their victims by both physical and psychological means.

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 14 of 36

As the Wisconsin Department of Justice explains, "no victim of trafficking has real freedom to leave because traffickers have used trickery and psychological and/or physical abuse to instill fear and maintain control."

Traffickers use threats, deception, violence and coercion to impose physical and psychological tactics to maintain control of their victims . . . [victims] are often isolated and conditioned to resist cooperation with social services or the criminal justice system. . .[they] often do not immediately seek help or see themselves as victims due fear and manipulation by the traffickers . . .

Wisconsin DOJ, Human Trafficking: A Guide for Criminal Justice Professionals, 1 (2011).

It is not absurd to think that the legislature intended to create an affirmative defense to protect victims of trafficking from criminal liability for crimes committed as a direct result of their victimization.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m), a victim of human trafficking has a complete affirmative defense to any offense committed as a direct result of the victimization.

#### A. Standard of review.

The issues presented in this appeal are issues of statutory construction. Statutory construction is subject to de novo review. *Noffke v. Bakke*, 2009 WI 10, ¶9, 315 Wis. 2d 350, 760 N.W.2d 156.

#### B. Principles of statutory construction.

The rules of statutory construction are well settled. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained:

[S]tatutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." Statutory language is given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning.

Context is important to meaning. So, too, is the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 16 of 36

statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word. . . Where statutory language is unambiguous, there is no need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation, such as legislative history. "In construing or interpreting a statute the court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute."

Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶45-46 (citations omitted).

If application of the Kalal methodology for statutory interpretation yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, the statute is applied accordingly. Id., ¶46. Where there is no ambiguity, there is no need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation, such as legislative history. Id.

If a statute is ambiguous, the court may look to legislative history to ascertain meaning. *Id.*, ¶50. Yet, legislative history may not be used to contradict plain meaning. *Id.*, ¶51. Whether a statute is ambiguous is a question of law. *P.A.K.* v. State, 119 Wis. 2d 871, 878-79 (1984). A statute is ambiguous if the "statutory language reasonably gives rise to different meanings." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶47 (ellipsis omitted).

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 17 of 36

C. Subsection 939.46(1m) is a complete defense for victims of human trafficking whose offenses are a direct result of their victimization. It is not limited to prosecutions of trafficking offenses under Wis. Stat. § 940.302(2).

The State concedes that Ms. Kizer is a child sex trafficking victim as defined by Wis. Stat. § 948.051. R.V. repeatedly sexually (68:12-13).Ms. Kizer when she was 16 and 17 years old, and possibly younger. He filmed some of these assaults and filmed assaults of other children. The Kenosha Police Department was investigating him prior to his death. The question for this Court is when and how, as a matter of law, the affirmative defense in Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m), applies to trafficking victims. The circuit court, as the factfinder, must then apply that standard to the facts presented by Ms. Kizer to determine whether she provided "some evidence" that the affirmative defense applies in this case.

Evaluating the language of Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m), in context, and giving reasonable effect to every word, yields a plain statutory meaning: the affirmative defense is available in any prosecution of a trafficking victim whose crime was a direct result of their victimization.

Subsection 939.46(1m) reads:

(1m) A victim of a violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 has an affirmative defense for **any** 

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 18 of 36

offense committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051 without regard to whether anyone was prosecuted or convicted for the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051.

(Emphasis added).

1. To whom does the affirmative defense apply?

Initially, the statute indicates to whom the affirmative defense applies: "a victim of a violation of s. 940.302(2) or 948.051 . . . without regard to whether anyone was prosecuted or convicted for the violation of s. 940.302(2) or 948.051." The definition of "victim" includes "a person against whom a crime has been committed." Wis. Stat. § 950.02(4)(a)1.

Both Wis. Stat. §§ 940.302(2) (Human Trafficking) and 948.051 (Trafficking a Child) prohibit various forms of human trafficking, including trafficking a child for commercial sex acts. A person is guilty of trafficking a child if he or she "knowingly recruits, entices, provides, obtains, solicits transports, patronizes or knowingly attempts to recruit, entice, provide, obtain, harbor, transport, patronize, or solicit any child for the purpose of commercial sex acts." Wis. Stat. § 948.051.

A "commercial sex act" includes, but is not limited to, sexual contact or intercourse "for which anything of value is given to, promised, or received, Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 19 of 36

directly or indirectly by any person." Wis. Stat. § 940.302(1)(a)1.-3.

A "child" is a person who has not reached age 18. Wis. Stat. § 948.01(1).

It is not disputed that Ms. Kizer is a sex trafficking victim as defined by Wis. Stat. § 948.051.

2. To what offenses does the affirmative defense apply?

Next, the statute indicates what the affirmative defense applies to: "any offense committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302(2) or 948.051." (Emphasis added). The word "any" is not statutorily defined. Undefined words in a statute are given their common, ordinary, and accepted meaning. Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1); *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶45. This Court recently determined that the common meaning of "any" when used in a statute, is "one, some, or all indiscriminately of whatever quantity." *Brown Cty. v. A.P.*, 2019 WI App 18, ¶12, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 650 (consulting dictionary for plain meaning).

The use of the phrase "any offense"—without providing exceptions or limitations—means that the affirmative defense for trafficking victims potentially applies to any offense charged. However, it is important to note that this does not mean all victims of human trafficking automatically have an affirmative defense to "any offense" charged by virtue of their status as a victim. There still must be a

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 20 of 36

nexus between the victimization and the offense charged—hence, the "direct result" language. This makes sense. Human trafficking is characterized by complex dynamics of power and control. Victims of human trafficking may become involved in a number because of of offenses their victimization. DOJ Human Trafficking Guide at 11-12 (traffickers' common methods of control include exploiting a victim's drug addiction and "Coerce[ing] the victim into illegal acts then build[ing] 'evidence' of wrongdoing and convince[ing] the victim that he or she will go to jail if detected."). These situations are fact specific, and as such, each case should be evaluated individually to determine whether the trafficking victim's alleged offense was a "direct result" of his or her victimization.

The circuit court concluded that the Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1m) affirmative defense was available solely within prosecutions of human trafficking offenses charged under Wis. Stat. § 940.302(2) App. 101), but this conclusion can only be reached by adding language to the statute. "It is a cardinal 'maxim[] of statutory construction ... that courts should not add words to a statute to give it a certain meaning." State v. Hinkle, 2019 WI 96, 389 Wis. 2d 1, 935 N.W.2d 271 (citation omitted). The legislature could have limited the affirmative defense § 940.302(2) offenses by enacting a law reading: "any offense under s. 940.302 committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302(2) or 948.051." But it did not. Instead, it enacted a law reading: "any offense committed as a direct result of the violation of Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 21 of 36

s. 940.302(2) or 948.051," without limitation. See State v. Lopez, 2019 WI 101, ¶21, 389 Wis. 2d 156, 936 N.W.2d 125 ("When the legislature does not include limiting language in a statute, we decline to read any into it.").

The circuit court's restricted interpretation of the statute is also unreasonable and undermines the purpose of the statute, which is to protect victims of trafficking. It arbitrarily limits the defense to prosecutions under Wis. Stat. § 940.302(2) (Human trafficking), but not Wis. Stat. § 948.051 (Trafficking a Child). It also leaves vulnerable victims of trafficking whose crimes are intrinsic to their victimization. For example, an undocumented immigrant trafficked for farm labor who was compelled to use false identification would be criminally liable for a violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2), a Class H felony. Or, a child sex trafficking victim who takes drugs at the direction of her abuser to facilitate acts of prostitution would be criminally liable for possession of a controlled substance under Chapter 961.

There is no limitation on the type of prosecution to which the affirmative defense for human trafficking victims is legally available. It potentially applies to "any offense." However, the defense is not limitless. It is the "direct result" language that limits the defense.

The phrase "direct result," like the term "any" is not statutorily defined, but does have ordinary, common, and accepted meaning. A "result" is "a consequence, effect, or conclusion." To be "direct" means to be "characterized by [a] close logical, causal, or consequential relationship." Determining a direct result is a fact-intensive inquiry. See, e.g., Tri City Nat. Bank v. Federal Ins. Co., 2004 WI App 12, ¶18, 268 Wis. 2d 785, 674 N.W.2d 617 (bank's financial loss from mortgage defaults was not a direct result of employee's actions where mortgage defaults occurred years later after intervening events).

The circuit court ruled that the phrase "direct result" means that "the cause of the offenses listed in 940.302(2) was the victimization, by others, of the alleged perpetrator in this matter." (38:1; App. 101) (emphasis in original). The court did not elaborate further. However, the court's emphasis implies a sole cause. This is inconsistent with the established meaning of causation in the criminal law. To "cause" means that an actor's conduct is a substantial factor, not sole factor, in the result. See, e.g., State v. Block, 170 Wis. 2d 676, 683, 489 N.W.2d 715 (Ct. App. 1992) ("The prosecution is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt only that defendant's acts were a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Result, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, available at, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/result (last visited 5/20/20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Direct, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, available at, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/direct (last visited 5/20/20).

Case 2020AP000192 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-03-2020 Page 23 of 36

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