FILED 11-24-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP000192-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

CHRYSTUL D. KIZER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Reversing a Non-Final Order Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable David Wilk Presiding

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Assistant State Public Defender

State Bar No. 1066231 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

marionc@opd.wi.gov

Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608)266-3440

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

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

Both s. 940.302(2) and 948.051 prohibit various forms of human trafficking, including trafficking a child for commercial sex acts. The discussion in Ms. Kizer's case has focused primarily on child sex trafficking. A person is guilty of child sex trafficking if he or she "knowingly recruits, entices, provides, obtains, harbors, transports, patronizes or solicits or knowingly attempts to recruit, entice, provide, obtain, harbor, transport, patronize, or solicit any child for the purpose of commercial sex acts." Wis. Stat. § 948.051.

A "commercial sex act" includes, but is not limited to, sexual contact or intercourse "for which anything of value is given to, promised, or received, directly or indirectly by any person." Wis. Stat. § 940.302(1)(a)1.-3. A "child" is a person who has not reached age 18. Wis. Stat. § 948.01(1).

Filed 11-24-2021

The defense also applies to human trafficking as defined under s. 940.302, which involves sex and labor trafficking and enumerates various modes of commission.⁷

- 1. One of the following applies:
- a. The trafficking is for the purposes of labor or services.
- b. The trafficking is for the purposes of a commercial sex act.
 - 2. The trafficking is done by any of the following:
- a. Causing or threatening to cause bodily harm to any individual.
- b. Causing or threatening to cause financial harm to any individual.
 - c. Restraining or threatening to restrain any individual.
 - d. Violating or threatening to violate a law.
- e. Destroying, concealing, removing, confiscating, or possessing, or threatening to destroy, conceal, remove, confiscate, or possess, any actual or purported passport or any other actual or purported official identification document of any individual.
 - f. Extortion.
 - g. Fraud or deception.
 - h. Debt bondage.
- i. Controlling or threatening to control any individual's access to an addictive controlled substance.
- j. Using any scheme, pattern, or other means to directly or indirectly coerce, threaten, or intimidate any individual.
- k. Using or threatening to use force or violence on any individual.

⁷ 940.032

⁽²⁾⁽a) Except as provided in s. 948.051, whoever knowingly engages in trafficking is guilty of a Class D felony if all of the following apply:

Filed 11-24-2021

The defense applies "without regard to whether anyone was prosecuted or convicted for the violation of s. 940.302 (2) or 948.051." Here, the trafficking violations in this case were committed by the deceased against Ms. Kizer. The State never formally brought charges against Volar for his crimes against Ms. Kizer or his other victims. However, this will not bar the defense.⁸ In the circuit court, the State conceded that it had videos of Volar having sex with Ms. Kizer, in which he explicitly discusses paying her. (17:1; 71:22). Volar entitled, transported, patronized, and solicited sex from Ms. Kizer starting when she was 16 years old. This is a definition of child trafficking under s. 948.051. Evidence of other trafficking violations against Ms. Kizer may also be introduced on remand. The State at various times has minimized Volar's crimes against Ms. Kizer as not beyond "a person postured as a customer or what we used to call a john." (68:13; State's Petition for Review at 12).

^{1.} Causing or threatening to cause any individual to do any act against the individual's will or without the individual's consent.

⁸ Had Volar been charged for his crimes, he would have been facing not just one life sentence, but many. His crimes against Ms. Kizer alone include child enticement (s. 948.07, D felony), soliciting a child for prostitution (s. 948.08, D felony), exposing genitals to a child (s. 948.10, I felony), sexual exploitation of a child (s. 948.501, C felony), possession of child pornography (s. 948.12, D felony), and sex trafficking a child, (s. 948.051, C felony)

Filed 11-24-2021

Regardless of the State's current position, whether Ms. Kizer is a victim such that she can present the defense will be a determination on remand. For purposes of this appeal, the definition is straight-forward.

"Any offense" defined. 2.

Next, the statute indicates what the affirmative defense applies to: "any offense committed as a direct result of the violation of s. 940.302(2) or 948.051." (Emphasis added). The use of the phrase "any providing offense"—without exceptions limitations—means that the affirmative defense for trafficking victims potentially applies to any offense charged. "When the legislature does not use words in a restricted manner, the general terms should be interpreted broadly to give effect to the legislature's intent." State v. Quintana, 2008 WI 33, ¶32, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447. The circuit court concluded that the affirmative defense was available solely within prosecutions of human trafficking offenses charged under s. 940.302(2). (38:1). This conclusion can only be reached by adding language to the statute, such as "any offense under 940.302(2) committed as a direct result. . . . " Of course, "[i]t is a cardinal 'maxim [] of statutory construction ... that courts should not add words to a statute to give it a certain meaning." State v. Hinkle, 2019 WI 96, ¶24, 389 Wis. 2d 1, 935 N.W.2d 271 (quoted source omitted).

The State has conceded that the circuit court erred in limiting the defense to offenses charged under s. 940.302(2) or 948.051. (State's Brief at 13). The court of appeals agreed with this concession. *Kizer*, 398 Wis. 2d 697, ¶4. There is no limitation on the type of prosecution to which the affirmative defense for human trafficking victims is available. It potentially applies to "any offense." However, this does not mean all victims of human trafficking automatically have an affirmative defense to "any offense" charged by virtue of their status as a victim. close There must be a nexus between victimization and the offense charged—hence, the "direct result" language. Ms. Kizer can present the defense even though she is charged with offenses other than those enumerated in s. 940.302 and 948.051.

3. "Direct result" defined.

affirmative defense is available trafficking victims when charged with any offense that is the "direct result" of their trafficking The phrase "direct result," is not victimization. statutorily defined, but does have ordinary, common, and accepted meaning. In general usage, a "result" is "a consequence, effect, or conclusion." To be

⁹ When interpreting a word or phrase in a statute, "it often proves useful to look at dictionary definitions." Quintana, 308 Wis. 2d 615, ¶42.

¹⁰ Result, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, available at, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/result (last visited 11/24/21).

Filed 11-24-2021

"direct" means to be "characterized by [a] close logical, causal, or consequential relationship."11

The court of appeals considered these and several other definitions of "direct" and "result," both dictionary definitions and references in case law. It then came up with a reasonable summation of the factors to consider when assessing whether the offense charged is a "direct result" of the trafficking victimization: "whether the victim's offense arises relatively immediately from the trafficking violation of which the victim is a victim, is motivated primarily by the trafficking violation, is a logical and reasonably foreseeable consequence of that violation, and is not in significant part caused by events, circumstances or considerations other than that violation." The court of appeals further stated that, "[t]his is not intended as an exhaustive list of factors a court to consider in making such determination; rather, it is merely intended to provide some guidance." Kizer, 398 Wis. 2d 697, ¶51. 12 The inquiry is necessarily fact-intensive, and as such, the analysis will vary case by case.

A jury will apply the "direct result" element to context-specific facts. Human trafficking is

Direct, Merriam-Webster Dictionary, available at, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/direct (last visited 11/24/21).

¹² The State quoted the aforementioned synopsis in its fact section. (State's Brief, 13). Notably, it omitted the language focusing the affirmative defense on the victim. The trafficking violation "of which the victim is a victim."

Filed 11-24-2021

characterized by complex dynamics of power and control. Victims of human trafficking may become involved in a number of offenses because of their victimization. DOJ Human Trafficking Guide, 11-12. (traffickers' common methods of control include pressuring the victim into illegal acts. threatening to expose the wrongdoing if the victim disobeys the trafficker).

The jury will likely consider facts such as the trafficking victim's age and mental capacity, the duration of the abuse, whether violence or force was involved, whether threats of deportation or arrest were utilized, whether the victim was isolated and made to be dependent on the trafficker, and whether the victim was subject to psychological abuse. See id. (listing methods of control). 10 - 11testimony may be admissible to assist the factfinder in this determination. See State v. Hogan, 2021 WI App 24, ¶34, 397 Wis. 2d 171, 959 N.W.2d 658 (holding admissible a detective's extensive testimony regarding the characteristics of sex trafficking and victim behaviors). 13

¹³ The victim in *Hogan* was guilty herself of trying to lure a new victim. Id., \P 3-4. Much of the expert testimony centered on contextualizing Mary's antisocial behaviors and explaining why those behaviors were characteristic of being a trafficking victim. Id., ¶13 (victims are "vulnerable, high-risk individuals"—"runaways, juveniles with adverse behavior."). Moreover, Mary thought of herself as the trafficker's girlfriend, which was another dynamic the expert expounded upon. Id., ¶¶4, 13 (describing "Romeo" pimps who act in a more loving manner).

Filed 11-24-2021

Here, the evidence will show that Volar, a 34-year-old white man, was trafficking Ms. Kizer, an African-American girl, for sex for more than a year, starting when she was only 16 years old. He benefitted from a power imbalance involving age, gender, and race. The State highlights that Ms. Kizer has a prior conviction. 14 (State's Brief, 10). That fact did not make her less vulnerable. Instead, it gave Volar leverage. He is the one who paid her bond. (71:15). She was indebted to him.

Juries are often tasked with making factspecific determinations about statutory terms that have ordinary, non-technical meaning. For example, they determine whether conduct is "reasonable." "unreasonable," or "substantial." See e.g. Wis. JI-Criminal 924 (Criminal Recklessness § 939.24; Wis. JI-Criminal 1250 (First Degree Reckless Injury § 940.23(1)) (criminal recklessness includes element that "the risk of death or great bodily harm was unreasonable or substantial"). These concepts are fact specific in nature. "Direct result" is similar.

The jury will be instructed on the language of the statute - here, "direct result" - but could also be given a list of factors to consider, as suggested by the court of appeals.¹⁵ Any factors used to guide the

¹⁴ Ms. Kizer would have been in juvenile court had the offense taken place two months earlier.

¹⁵ It is common for juries to be instructed on a term by reference to factors. See e.g. Wis. JI-Criminal 924A. This jury instruction for determining circumstances which show "utter disregard for human life" states, "In determining whether the

determination, however, must preserve the common, ordinary, and accepted meaning of direct result.

C. The State's proposed definitions are unreasonable and contradict the plain language of the statute.

As an initial matter, this Court should find that the State forfeited a challenge to the court of appeals' construction of direct result. The State's petition for review raised a single issue: the application of the defense to the crime of first-degree intentional homicide. However, in the alternative, Ms. Kizer will address the State's many proposed definitions, some of which are made for the first time in this Court.

The State proposes several definitions. A "direct result" is:

- "proximate and actual cause" (State's Brief at 8, 16);
- "[p]rimary, proximate, immediate cause, marked by absence of intervening agency" (*Id.*, at 24);

circumstances of the conduct showed utter disregard for human life, consider these factors: what the defendant was doing; why the defendant was engaged in that conduct; how dangerous the conduct was; how obvious the danger was; whether the conduct showed any regard for life; and, all the other facts and circumstances relating to the conduct."

- "[t]he absence of intervening and superseding factors" (*Id.*, at 16);
- "consequence of an action without any intervening circumstances or without compromising or mitigating elements" (*Id.*, at 17);
- "[a]n act undertaken as part of being trafficked" (*Id.*, at 16);
- "as part of or in furtherance of the trafficking offense" (*Id.*, at 16, 22);
- "part and parcel of the trafficking enterprise." (*Id.*, at 24).

The State's definitions fit into two basic categories. First, the State proposes a "proximate cause" definition, with a collection of related terms. (State's Brief, 8, 16, 24). Second, the State argues that an offense can only be a direct result of a trafficking violation if it is "part of," "in furtherance of," or "part and parcel of" the underlying "trafficking violation" or "trafficking enterprise." (*Id.*, 9, 16, 22, 24).

1. Direct result does not mean proximate cause.

The State argues that "direct result" means "proximate and actual cause." (State's Brief, 8). It alternatively phrases this as, "the primary, proximate, immediate cause, marked by the absence

Filed 11-24-2021

of intervening agency." (Id., 24). Sometimes it substitutes the terms "causes," "circumstances," or "factors," in the place of "agency." (Id., 9, 16, 17, 19). Initially, the State seems to agree with the court of appeals' list of factors before arguing "the existence of superseding or intervening causes or agency are not simply factors among a list that the fact-finder should consider ... they are conditions prerequisite to the defense." (Id., 19). Yet, the existence of "superseding or intervening causes or agency" was not a factor on the court of appeals' list. That list of factors used ordinary words that a jury could understand.

The State's interpretation is contrary to the language of the statute, unworkable, and overly complicated. The plain language of s. 939.46(1m). does not require "prerequisites" to the defense, such as, lack of superseding or intervening causes or agency or factors. (State's Brief, 19). The statute does not use any of those terms.

The State uses tort terms - actual and proximate cause - not relevant to criminal prosecutions. Not only is proximate cause not used in criminal law, Wisconsin has jettisoned proximate cause, in favor of six policy factors, which are evaluated by a judge, not a jury. Fandrey ex rel. Connell v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co. Eyeglasses, 2004 WI 62, ¶¶13, 15, 272 Wis. 2d 46, 680 N.W.2d 345.

The State provides no guidance on how to identify or determine superseding or intervening causes, factors, agency, or circumstances sufficient to preclude use of the affirmative defense. Again, it should be remembered that this element, like every element, will ultimately be decided by a jury. proposed definitions suggest State's circumstances surrounding trafficking offenses, and the attendant victimization, are straightforward and that superseding or intervening causes - precluding use of the affirmative defense - would be evident. This ignores the complex dynamics of human trafficking and its effects on victim behavior.

> 2. Direct result does not mean "part of" or "in furtherance of" human trafficking.

The State's effort to define direct result as "part of or in furtherance of" the trafficking crime is a transparent attempt to add language to the statute. 16 The common, ordinary, and accepted meaning of "direct result" is not "as part of or in furtherance of." Nor is it a "technical or special definitional meaning" of "direct result."

The Legislature could have affirmative defense solely for trafficking victims who

¹⁶ The State's argument that the charged offense must be in furtherance of the trafficking conduct or enterprise is raised for the first time in this Court. It was not raised in the circuit court, court of appeals, or in the State's petition for review to this Court. It has long been forfeited.

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